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Island, and the War of 1812 are described. A valuable
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families published for the first time.
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Tintroduction

Tbe life of any community largely centres around
its first, and for a space, its only church. This natural
tendency makes 1t apt, in narrating the history of the
Church at Harsenville, to fuse it in the amalgam
of its surroundings. As its locus was settled by Hol-
landers, their descendants, in conformity with their
antecedents, selected the ecclesiastical pattern of their
fatherland. Situated in a portion of the territory to
which the generic name of Bloomingdale attached, it
yet had a local significance and at the same time drew
for support on a much larger section than that known
as Harsenville. In the century of its existence in that
location its power for good cannot be estimated, and
now that it has been deemed wise to remove the congre-
gation to pastures new—still within the confines of
Bloomingdale—may the influence which has heretofore
radiated from it increase and multiply mightily! The
new site on the field of the Battle of Harlem Heights
is alone an incentive to aggressive work.

This section of the island has had only desultory and
disconnected mention in the history of the city. The
distinction of its name—so beautiful in its meaning—
has even been denied it, while every one is familiar
with such local appellations as Chelsea, Greenwich,
Yorkville, Harlem, and Manhattanville, no one of

xxiil



XX1v Tntroduction

which for an instant compares with the charm asso-
ciated with the designation applied to this West Side
territory by the early Dutch inhabitants. Blooming-
dale—a vale of flowers—remains a title of singular
descriptive beauty and as such deserves to live. It has
been with reason described as the watering-place of
the élite of New York, the resort of all distinguished
strangers from abroad, and the Newport of that part
of the city's history extending from the period of Dutch
farms to its metamorphosis into metropolitan grand-
eur. And then the Hudson! Never was there a more
beautiful shore. For the most part bold and rocky,
here and there a sandy beach in some little cove was
encountered, shaded by branching chestnuts and ma-
ples, upon the shelving sands of which the ripples made
music most inviting to the bather on a midsummer day.
Harriet Martineau has said that of all the water craft
she had ever seen none were so graceful as the sloops
that sailed its waters. The march of modern improve-
ment, in the guise of the railroad, swept away at one
blow the rural beauty of this part of the island.

As a family connection of each of the four founders
of the Church, and a scion in the fifth and fourth genera-
tions respectively of its first elders, the author wishes
to express pleasure at his selection by the present Con-
sistory to write this history of the organization. He
feels that he is especially equipped for the occasion.
For some fifteen years he has been engaged in an effort
to preserve the history, tradition, and local color of
old Bloomingdale. This volume is launched in com-
memoration of the centenary of the incorporation
of the Society, with the hope that, as the text more
than sufficiently covers the subject of the title, it may
induce old residents to send him additional data that
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an exhaustive history of the District, now in prepara-
tion, may be published soon, the accuracy of which
will crown the result. Portraits of many of the resi-
dents and pictures of most of the buildings, many
of them dating from the 18th century, have been
gathered, together with maps of farms, old lanes, and
watercourses. Beginning at Union Square the inten-
tion is to follow the line of the Bloomingdale Road to
147th Street, where it merged in the road to Kings-
bridge. Those of us who have been familiar with and
loved Bloomingdale since birth, trust that the contem-
plated work will revive interest in the restoration of
a name which is unique, euphonic, and historic.

Where so many have lent assistance in the prepara-
tion of this publication it is invidious to draw distinc-
tion, vet it is hard to refrain from thanking Mrs.
Florence E. Youngs, Assistant Librarian of the N. Y.
Genealogical and Biographical Society, Robert H. Kelby,
Librarian of the N. Y. Historical Society, Bingman
Versteeg, Librarian of the Holland Society, George R.
Schieffelin, John Jasper, former President of the Board
of Education, George Wilson, Secretary of the Chamber
of Commerce, and the four survivors of Domine van
Aken’s pastorate, Mrs. Emily Hanaway Stryker, widow
of Rev. Dr. Peter Stryker, Mrs. Ann Agnes Dana,
Mrs. Jane Cozine Dorland, and Mrs. Marion Bissland
Carss. Especially are acknowledgments made to
David Thomson of Foster & Thomson, for repeated
acts of kindness. Thanks are also due to Dr. Stinson,
pastor, and to members of the present Consistory.

The Dutch colors—blue, white, and orange—embel-
lish the cover.

It should be added that this work frankly amounts
to more than a history of the Bloomingdale Reformed
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Church. The broadest kind of an historical and genea-
logical background has been taken, extending over the

entire region of the Bloomingdale of old.
H. S. M.

City oF NEw YORE,
Borovca or MANHATTAN,
June, 1906,

After being arrayed in battle panoply for five years
in an effort to have the name affixed to some location
within its confines, it is with unfeigned pleasure that
the announcement is made that the Board of Aldermen
passed an ordinance which was approved by Mayor
McClellan and became a law on the gth day of January,
1907, designating the triangular plot at the junction of
Broadway, West End Avenue, 106th and 107th Streets,
‘“ Bloomingdale Square.”
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I
JBloomingdale

TIn the good old days, sometime after the settlement
of this island by our Holland ancestors, the middle
west section thereof received from the place of that
name near Haarlem, in Holland, the name ‘ Bloemen-
dael.”” Its earliest history is lost in tradition. Indian
trails led over and across it. Where the tepees were
located, how the wild creatures which prowled through
its woods disappeared, and how and when the terri-
tory, densely covered with the denizens of the forest,
became denuded, we are left to conjecture. At a
later date its pastoral scenes were apostrophized
by Irving, whose magic pen has immortalized the
“River of the Mountains,” as ‘“a sweet and rural
valley, beautiful with many a bright wild flower,
refreshed by many a pure streamlet, and enlivened
here and there by a delectable little Dutch cottage,
sheltered under some sloping hill and almost buried
in embowering trees.” The derivation of the name
is in itself descriptive of the territory to which it was

1
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applied. Even in our day it was “a vale of flow-
ers,” the equivalent in the vernacular of the Dutch
designation. The extent of territory covered by the
appellation has ever been a mooted question; such
authorities as mention the subject at all differ essen-
tially. We know to a certainty that the road which
gave access much later to the locality ran its length
through ‘“‘the Bloomingdale District’ from present
23d Street and Broadway and was known as the
Bloomingdale Road. It wound o'er hill and dale,
over a picturesque country, passing beautiful country-
seats and farmhouses, making an ensemble which vied
with the splendors of the lordly Hudson lapping its
shores. Let us trace the name by successive stages
as applied to territory below 5gth Street, at which point
many authorities limit it. An old resident and occu-
pant of a homestead which stood until 1897 at 54th
Street and the river, the author can testify that letters
to his family as early as the end of the 18th century
were addressed to Bloomingdale. The blocks between
s5th and 57th Streets and Eighth and Ninth Avenues
constituted the original Bloomingdale Square and con-
tained somewhat over eighteen acres. It was closed
on the establishment of Central Park, by Chapter 73,
Laws of 1857. The abstract of title of the Wm. L.
Rose tract, on the east side of the road between 46th
and 47th Streets, denominates it as lying in Blooming-
dale. Rose's name appears attached to the articles of
incorporation of the Church as the witness. He had
other plots in the locus in quo and was the husband of
Charlotte, the sister of Mrs. Jacob Coles Mott. A part
of Wolfert Webber’s farm, hereinafter described, which
John Jacob Astor and William Cutting acquired under
foreclosure in 1803, the southern boundary of which
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was south of 43d Street on the Road and extended to
the river at a point north of 48th Street, was platted
thereafter. On the map it is entitled “The farm at
Bloomingdale,” belonging to those individuals. Por-
tions of it fronting on Verdant Lane became the prop-
erty of Colonel Anthony Post and Francis Feitner,
mentioned hereafter. In the Mercantile Advertiser of
Dec. 10, 1814, appeared this advertisement:

TO LET for one or more years

The Farm at Bloomingdale, near the four
mile stone, known by the name of Eden's
Farm, consisting of about 22 acres of Land,
on which are two Dwelling Houses and 2
barns, and to which may be added 2 pieces of
pasture land of about ten acres each. Apply
to

Joun Jacos Astor, corner Pine
& Pearl-Street.

This farm was owned by Medcef Eden, an English-
man, and extended as far south as g1st Street. It was
acquired by Astor under foreclosure in 1803, for $25,000.
The prevalent notion that this new centre of the city’s
hotel and theatre district was ever known as the Long
Acre Farm is fallacious. The mural painting over the
bar in the Hotel Astor labelled with this name tends
to foster false history. The name Long Acre grew
into usage after Brewster & Company removed from
Broome Street to 47th Street, in 1872. Other firms in
the same line of business followed them to the new loca-
tion, whereupon one of the trade publications compared
New York’s carriage building community to Long Acre
Street in London, where the leading firms of the busi-
ness are centred, and termed the locality, which at that
time was without name, “New York's Long Acre.”
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This designation seemed apt and was finally adopted
by the authorities.

The high eminence at present Greeley and Herald
Squares gave the name of Strawberry Hill to territory
thereabouts. When the Institution for the Blind was
removed in October, 1833, to the entire block between
33d and 34th Streets, Eighth and Ninth Avenues, it
was to Strawberry Hill that it came. This advertise-
ment from the Columbian of January 6, 1815, brings the
Bloomingdale name to a point farther south and as low
as we have yet been able to prove:

A STRAY STEER
was found on the premises of the subscriber
on the sth of August last. The owner may
have the said steer by proving property and
paying all reasonable charges.
Isaac VariaN JUN.
Bloomingdale—3 mile stone.

This stone was located on the Old Post Road just
north of its junction with the Bloomingdale Road at a
spot about opposite 24th Street, and measured the
third mile from Federal Hall in Wall Street.

“The Road to Bloomingdale,” the continuation of
Bowery or New York Lane, began at 14th Street and
Fourth Avenue, crossed diagonally Union Square, and
proceeded northerly to its junction with the Old Post
Road, which swerved northeasterly across present
Madison Square, and followed much of the bed of Third
Avenue to Harlem. The Bloomingdale Road was
opened under the Act of June 19, 1703, as stated in
the preamble of the Act of November 25, 1751, which
provided for keeping said road in repair. Therein it is
mentioned that the road had been laid out of the
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breadth of four rods from the house of John Horn (23d
Street and Fifth Avenue), through the * Bloomingdale
District” to the house of Adrian Hooglandt (1r5th
Street and Riverside Drive), terminating at the “‘barn
of Nicholas de Peyster’ (about 116th Street). Prior
to the opening of this road, which meant so much to
the district 1t traversed, the only means of access from
the city seems to have been by water, the great natural
highway to the region. There were a number of lanes
which deflected from the Post Road to distinctive sec-
tions of the West Side, some of the more important being
Hopper’s Lane in the fifties, Harsenville Road in the
seventies, and the Cross Road to Harlem, afterwards
Apthorp Lane, in the nineties. All of those named
were opened many years after the Bloomingdale Road.

In the process of evolution by which New York has
reached its proud position as the second city of the
world, it has come about that the farm on which *“ the
house of John Horn'' was situated and its vicinage has
become the retail centre and the best known and most
conspicuous locality of the metropolis. Its situation
in the heart of the city, its fabulous wealth in hotels,
amusement and business structures, the beautiful
Madison Square Park which lies opposite, the width
of the plaza between them, and the crossing of two of
the main arteries of travel, all have served to call atten-
tion to this section. The national and local characters
to be met on that swirling centre of trade and traffic—
the junction of 23d Street and Fifth Avenue—accen-
tuates this feature, and the political meetings held in
the neighboring hotels, with the conduct and contest
of parties fought out thereabouts, have focussed the
thought of the nation for many years on this terri-
tory. The vast assemblages which concentrate here
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on occasions have become a part of metropolitan
existence.

Horn acquired title to the tract in 1716 in conjunc-
tion with his brother-in-law Cornelius Webber, the
latter's sister Rachel having married the former three
years previously. The house, which became the start-
ing point of the Bloomingdale Road, was located be-
tween 22d and 23d Streets, in the present centre of
Fifth Avenue, on the exact spot where the *Isle of
Safety’' has been placed, and immediately west of the
Flatiron Building. It became later the residence of
Christopher Mildeberger, a merchant in the Swamp,
who had married Margaret Horn in 1808 and removed
to this dwelling in 1820 from Vandewater Street. Ven-
erable and stately sycamore trees lined the then country
road, and also divided the farm from the house plot.
Fifth Avenue was ordered opened in 1837, and the same
year the park called Madison was declared a public
square. In 1839 Mildeberger petitioned that his house
should be allowed to remain on its site until the actual
necessity arose for its removal, and by resolution of the
Common Council, it was permitted to stay until
November i1st. The homestead was removed to the
northwest corner of the avenue and street where the
Fifth Avenue Hotel stands, and was used as a tavern
known as Madison Cottage under lease to Corporal
Thompson. It became a noted resort and half-way
house for turfmen and other sporting characters under
the management of this boniface and remained on this
corner for thirteen years (1839-1852), when it was
superseded by Franconi’s Hippodrome.

The farms which collectively came to be known as
Bloomingdale were settled by Hollanders. They
stretched some four miles along both sides of the road,
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which i 1795 was extended from 115th to 147th
Streets, where it merged in the Kingsbridge Road. In
this territory were a number of hamlets, one at the
Great Kill, the longest and deepest stream which in-
dented the west shore of the island, the outlet of which
was at 42d Street. The settlement at this spot ex-
tended into the fifties. Harsenville was located in the
seventies, Striker’s Bay in the nineties, and Blooming-
dale centred at 1ooth Street. Here was the nucleus
of a village which received this name for want of a
better one, and in which the Bloomingdale Asylum
was the main raison d'étre. Each of these was a dis-
tinct locality. Up to the opening of the Civil War
there was yet a semblance of village life therein.

Thbe Great Rill

Branches of the Great Kill rose as far north as g8th
Street and the road, as far east as 48th Street and
Sixth Avenue, where there was a lake, and as far south
as 3gth Street east of Seventh Avenue. Two larger
ponds were on this branch between 36th and 38th
Streets near this avenue. The dominating feature in
this neighborhood was the *“ Great Kill Farm,” located
near the creek’s mouth and on the north side thereof.
It was owned in 1714 by Matthys Adolphus Hoppe, the
ancestor of Andrew Hopper, an original deacon of the
Church at Harsenville. There was located the house
of Matthew Hopper. His sons advertised it for sale
in 1786 and John Leake, the founder of Leake and
Watts Orphan Home, a distinctive Bloomingdale insti-
tution, purchased it that year for £1ooo. He dwelt
on an adjoining farm which he called “ The Hermitage,"
and both these properties were inherited by his grand-
nephews, the Norton brothers. Most of the property
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in the hamlet contiguous to this stream was owned
by the Hopper family and its connections. Matthys
Adolphus, the settler, was the youngest of the four
children of Andries Hoppe, the pioneer, and Gertje Hen-
dricks, his wife, who reached this country from Holland
in 1652. He lived but six years after his arrival and
yet his name is conspicuous in the records of the time.
He owned a number of lots in the lower city and lived
on the east side of Broadway, north of Beaver Street.
Just before his death in December, 1658, he entered
into a contract to purchase Bronck’s Land (Morrisania),
from which agreement his widow sought relief on the
ground that the owner, one Stoll, could not deliver it
free from Indian claims. The grave and learned seig-
neurs, the Court of Burgomasters and Schepens, one
of the members of which was Jacobus Strijcker, the
ancestor of another of the original elders of the Har-
senville Church, declared the title merchantable. So
Mrs. Hoppe or Hoppen (in both of which ways the
good dame spelled her name) owned the whole of
Bronck's Land, five hundred acres in extent, by deed
of record dated 1662. This property was eventually
patented by Governor Andros to Colonel Lewis Morris,
second Proprietor of Morrisania, in 1676.

The “ Hopper Farm,” which has become famous in
legal annals, as confined within city streets, stretched
from 48th to ssth Streets, both east and west of the
Bloomingdale Road, lying diagonally across the city
and along the river from soth to gsth Streets. The
homestead of Matth”s Adolphus Hoppe was located
on the north side of Hopper's Lane the only way
through the farm to the river, just west of the Albany
apartment house at sist Street and Broadway. His
son Johannes, known in the records as John Hopper



REMNANT OF THE HOPPER BURIAL GROUND, 1884
Southwest corner of Ninth Avenue and soth Street
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the Elder, inhenited this property. He was a member
of Captain Gerard Stuyvesant's company, of N. Y.
Militia, and served as Lieutenant in General Harmer's
campaign against the Indians. He married, in 1728,
Maria van Orden, and their seven children were born in
the homestead. A remnant of the family burial-ground
was to be seen until 1885 at the southwest corner of
Ninth Avenue and soth Street, in which interments took
place until 1840, the last being that of an old negro
slave by whom the members of the last generation had
been nursed.

John Hopper the Elder, besides the house he built
for his son Matthew heretofore mentioned, constructed
one at soth Street and Broadway for his son Andrew,
and another at the terminus of the Lane (53d Street
and the river) for his son John the Younger, who was
born in 1734, and whose first wife was Wyntie Dyck-
man. Their only child, Maria, became the first wife of
James Striker of Striker’s Bay. Hopper's second wife
was Sarah Cozine, and he as well as Sarah and her
mother Catharine, widow of Balaam Johnson Cozine,
were buried in the Hopper plot. He devised his farm
to his grandchildren for life, viz.: Ann Striker, Winifred,
wife of Jordan Mott, and General Garrit Hopper Striker.

Another residence, “Mott's Point,”” the Homestead,
which John Hopper the Younger put up, was situated
at the river's edge, and built in 1796 for his grand-
daughter, whose marriage was then in contemplation.
The rocky promontory on which it was located had
previously been the site of the family fishing, bathing,
and boating houses. For this was a celebrated spot
for bass and crabs and the rocks were encrusted with
oysters which grew to perfection. The Mott family
used the place as a country-seat until 1829, when they
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removed there permanently. Seven sons were born to
them, the youngest being baptized in the Bloomingdale
Church. Here, also, lived their grandmother, Anne
Coles, the wife of Isaac Mott, a Quaker merchant, whose
privilege it was to bear a part in the contest for Amer-
ican independence. There is preserved in her family
a tablecloth which some officers gave her as a grateful
memento of her charitable course in ministering to the
wants of the cruelly treated captives who fell into the
British clutches. (Vide sketchin N. Y. G. and B. Record
of January and July, 1905.) The family attended
service at the Church and a number of the sons sang in
the choir.

The house of John Homn, Jr., whose mother was
Jacomyntie (Jemima) Hopper, is still standing on the
edge of the Lane at sist Street and Broadway. It is
now occupied as a saloon and was known until lately
as the “Old Homestead,"” so-called from its proximity
to the original homestead. The Cozine and Hege-
man families (who intermarried) had houses in the
present bed of Eighth Avenue, between s54th and
ssth Streets. No pictures of these houses are extant.
Sarah Swanser, the daughter of Sarah Cozine, married,
as a second husband, John Stake, and his house was
located within the lines of old Bloomingdale Square.
Among the individuals connected with the Church who
lived in this section should be mentioned the Webbers,
Posts, and Hardmans.

There were a number of isolated homes located be-
tween the Great Kill section and Harsenville, notably
the Havemeyer place on the west side of present Colum-
bus Circle, and the Cargill, Ward, Nash, and Low
houses, all of which were surrounded by more or less
extensive grounds. These were all on the great Somer-
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indyck farm, and were acquired from heirs of John
Somerindyck, who bid it in at the sale held by the Com-
missioners of Forfeiture after the Revolution. The
Havemeyer mansion later served as a hospital and home
for disabled Union soldiers. The Cargill seat occupied
the block between 6oth and 61st Streets and Ninth and
Tenth Avenues, which was bought by David Cargill
in 1819, for $3500. He was a member of the firm of
Cargill & Sonntag, No. 11 Maiden Lane, importers of
musical instruments. The house stood relatively
nearer to Tenth Avenue. In 1860, title to the property
became vested in Algernon S. Jarvis; consideration,
$135,000.

Lebbeus B. Ward, the mechanician, lived in a hand-
some Gothic cottage, at the northwest corner of sgth
Street and Tenth Avenue, the trap rock of which it was
constructed having been brought from his native State
of New Jersey. He carried on business at the foot of
the street at the river's edge, where he founded the
“Hamersley Forge,” the first establishment in this
country fitted with furnaces and steam hammers of
sufficient size to manufacture shafts and cranks for
steamer and steamboat use. Here was forged the
" Peacemaker,’’ the famous gun which was invented
by Ericsson and which was mounted on the
U. S. S. Princeton. At its trial on the Potomac
River in 1844, it was very successful, but later at a final
discharge it exploded, killing two secretanies of Tyler's
Cabinet. The President himself narrowly escaped.
It is proper to add that Ward disapproved of the
method of construction of this gun, which was much
larger than had theretofore been used in the navy.

The Nash house now forms a portion of the New
York Infant Asylum located at the northeast corner
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of 6ist Street and Tenth Avenue. It was built
by Daniel D. Nash, the auctioneer, who bought the
site in 1848. John Low purchased land on the west
side of Tenth Avenue, between sgth and 64th Streets,
in 1819, at which time he was cashier of the Union
Bank at 17 Wall Street. * Locust Grove,” which name
dignified the mansion he built near the latter street,
was a substantial stone structure of two stories and
attic. It was surrounded by a dense forest and Low's
woods were famous picnic-grounds even after they
were cut off from the water by the advent of the rail-
road. Great quantities of wild pigeons consorted there,
and hunting was superb until one day the birds disap-
peared. The Low house and some of the contiguous
land was purchased in 1851 by John Tirburce Gregoire
de Milhau, a San Domingan refugee, who occupied
it till 1858. It became a beer and dance hall later, a
fate which befell so many of the fine country-seats of
Bloomingdale.

The hamlet which grew up around the Harsen home-
stead, to which the name “ Harsenville" attached, will
be treated extensively in another chapter. The terri-
tory covered by this appellation was composed of the
Somerindyke and Dyckman farms and a portion of the
Apthorp tract. Generally speaking it stretched from
soth to 8oth Streets, an extensive part of which prop-
erty was taken for Central Park.

Striker’'s JBap

The section of Bloomingdale which received the dis-
tinctive name of Striker’s Bay extended to goth Street.
Gerrit Striker, the grandson of Jacobus Strijcker, one
of the magistrates of the original Court of New Amster-
dam, assumed the method of spelling his name which
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has been retained by the Manhattan branch of the fam-
ily, and differentiates it from the rest of the clan. He
settled at the head of a “certain cove,” located at
the foot of present g6th Street, in 1764, and named the
mansion he built there ' Striker’'s Bay.” This prop-
erty descended to his only child, James, who lived the
life of a country gentleman on his ancestral estate.
During the Revolution it was in the occupation of the
enemy. After his death the house became a tavern.
“ Jogging down a steep lane,” says Dayton’s Kunicker-
bocker Life tn New York, ' we alight at a secluded little
snuggery called Striker’s Bay, one of the most unpre-
tending vet attractive houses on the drive. It was in
a nook sheltered from all points, save from the west,
where the fine view of the Hudson amply repaid many
a visitor.” In 1841 Francis was the landlord. During
his proprietorship he perfected his celebrated life-boat
—the precursor of later designs—which invention made
him both famous and rich. The years of his tenantcy
were memorable for the number of noted personages
who assembled there. Poe and his child-wife, Virginia,
spent the summers of 1843 and 1844 in a cottage near
by which stood at 84th Street. While he resided in
Bloomingdale he wrote that notable poem, The Raven,
and it was his habit to wander down the declivity
to the shores of the bay. Often did he occupy a seat
on Francis’s piazza to enjoy the prospect and commune
with his friends and familiars, of whom the names of
Woodward, Morris, Willis, English, the author of Ben
Bolt, and the lawyer-poet, William Ross Wallace, are
recalled. Trees of tremendous girth and height were
on the ground, one of which, “a grand old elm,” in-
spired Morris to compose that noble lyric, Woodman,
Spare that Tree. In 1837, wrote the poet, he caught
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a tenant of the property in the act of cutting it down
for firewood. “The old gentleman” with whom he
was walking asked the iconoclast what it was worth
when felled, and ascertaining that ten dollars would
prevent its destruction, paid the price and exacted an
agreement in writing that it should besaved. We
have Morris's testimony that in 1862 it was still
standing.

Under the tavern's successive bonifaces it became
a noted resort for excursions, target-shootings, etc.
There was a dock and small station of the Hudson
River Railroad on the grounds. The lawn fronting the
river made a fine dancing floor, and at the rear of the
house were found the targets. A well-known clergy-
man is authority for the statement that here was a scene
of sylvan beauty unsurpassed, and that he had never in
his long life been in so entrancing a spot. The property
was sold in June, 1856, and the house was destroyed by
fire in the early sixties, when Robert Pennoyer was its
landlord.

Situated in the neighborhood of which this house
was a nucleus, were many country-seats. The Apthorp
mansion is certainly the most noted—as it is of Revo-
lutionary renown. The N. Y. Mercury of Monday,
May 21, 1764, gives an account of a quarrel among
the workmen engaged in the construction of the
house, during which one of the participants was killed.
Charles Ward Apthorp was one of his Majesty's Coun-
cil under Governor Tryon, a leading lawyer of thecity,
and a man of social distinction in colonial times. He
called the Bloomingdale property ‘‘Elmwood,"” and
here he dispensed lavish hospitality. He died in the
mansion in 1797, and his remains were laid in the family
vault in Trinity churchyard. Ten children survived
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him. The building was beautiful in its architecture.
Its recessed portico with Corinthian columns and pil-
asters and high-arched doorway commanded the admir-
ation of architects even to the time of its destruction.
The massive solid door led into a spacious hall, which,
in the days of its builder, was used as a ball-room. On
both sides of the hall, which extended through the
house, were large rooms, and up the broad staircase
chambers were found fit for the distinguished guests
who visited there. The plot containing the mansion
was sold to William Jauncey, an Englishman and rich
merchant, in 1799, with a right of way in Apthorp Lane
leading from the Road to the river. The Elmwood
estate was bequeathed in 1828 to Herman Jauncey
Thorne, the son of Jane Mary Jauncey, niece and
adopted child of William Jauncey, who had intermar-
ried with Herman Thorne in 181o. Their son, who had
dropped the surname Thorne, died before coming of
age, by being thrown from his horse in Paris. Colonel
Thorne, a man of very marked personality, with a strik-
ingly handsome face, began his career in the navy.
He spent many vears in Paris, where a chronicler in
1836 described that he lived in a style of princely splen-
dor that eclipsed all rivalry, to the great astonishment
of the French, who failed to comprehend where an
American had acquired such tastes. Old-timers recall
how he drove out of Apthorp Lane in his splendid Eng-
lish coach and four, the admiration of the neighborhood.
The property was maintained by Colonel Thorne as his
country-seat until his death in 1859, when the lots were
platted and sold in 1860 at the Merchants’ Exchange.
In its degenerate days the property was known as Elm
Park, a beer and dance resort. The Board of Street
Openings sealed its doom when g1st Street was ordered
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opened and it was torn down in 1888. St. Agnes's
Chapel now occupies the site.

After passing Burnham'’s famous resort in the van
den Heuvel mansion at 7g9th Street, of which more anon,
the Bloomingdale Road passed down a gentle declivity
with occasionally a superb river view. To the right,
at about 84th Street, there was a pond, fabled in the
vicinity to be of unfathomable depth and known to be
well stocked with goldfish. This was a favonte skating
ground of the Bloomingdale youth in the winter season,
while the capture of the fish with a pin-hook furnished
an endless source of amusement to the boys in summer.
Nearly opposite to this pond was the entrance to what
had been in its day one of the finest country-seats on
this side of the Atlantic. A large slice of the farm on
which it stood, belonging at one time to Etienne de
Lancey, was acquired in 1800 by John McVickar, a
merchant prince of the end of the 18th and the be-
ginning of the 1gth century. Built originally by
him, the mansion had afterwards become the residence
of the John H. Howland family. The grounds extended
from the Road to the river and covered above sixty
acres of land, beautifully wooded and with a high rocky
shore. The house, which was approached by a winding
drive some half a mile in length, was a large square
mansion, standing close to the river's bank. Unfortu-
nately the line of 86th Street passed through it and
when that street was o